FILED

JUL 18 2016

FILED
Jun 30, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT NO. 1350 ()

State of Washington

NO. 73163-7-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

LORENZO STEWART,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Monica Benton, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANA M. NELSON Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether petitioner was deprived of his Sixth Amendment and article 1, § 22 right to notice of the nature and cause of the accusation where he was necessarily convicted of an uncharged alternative means of committing robbery?
- (i) Where the court of appeals decision to the contrary conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>In re Personal Restraint of Brockie</u>, 178 Wn.2d 532, 309 P.3d 498 (2013), should this Court accept review? RAP 13.4(b)(1).
- (ii) As this case also involves a significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions, should this Court accept review? RAP 13.4(b)(3).

- 2. Whether petitioner was deprived of his Fourteenth Amendment and article 1, § 22 due process right to require the state to prove all elements of the sentencing enhancement where the court's instructions eased the state's burden of proof as to whether the alleged knife qualified as a "deadly weapon?"
- (i) Should this Court accept review of this significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions? RAP 13.4(b)(3).
- 3. Whether petitioner was deprived of his Sixth Amendment and article 1, § 22 right to effective assistance of counsel where his attorney failed to request an instruction that was supported by the evidence and would have aided in petitioner's defense?
- (i) Should this Court accept review of this significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions? RAP 13.4(b)(3).

D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

1. Facts

Stewart was convicted of first degree robbery while armed with a deadly weapon, allegedly committed on August 27, 2014, against Joshua Miller. CP 1, 16-17; 1RP 2. The state alleged Stewart was at the Home Depot in Shoreline and put several items in a shopping cart and fraudulently returned them for store credit on a gift card. CP 5. When

loss prevention officer Joshua Miller confronted Stewart, Stewart tried to leave. 3RP 65.

Miller testified that when he tried to block Stewart's path, Stewart said, "I'm a cut you, damn it." 3RP 66. Miller claimed he heard a "flick" at Stewart's waist; Miller threw his body backwards, pushing off Stewart's shin. 3RP 66. Miller claimed that as he did so, he saw the blade pass between 5 and 6 inches from his face. 3RP 66.

Miller testified the knife was "the length of my hand folded, so probably about four and a half, five inches." 3RP 71. However, he did not specify whether he was talking about the blade itself or the blade and handle together. 3RP 71.

Stewart ran from the store on foot with the gift card. CP 5. Police were notified and apprehended Stewart after a "brief chase." CP 6. Stewart was frisked but no knife was found. 4RP 18. However, a police dog later located a knife along the route Stewart allegedly ran during the police chase. 4RP 36.

Deputy Josephine McNaughten and her partner Allen Long brought Miller from Home Depot to Stewart's location for a possible identification. 3RP 25. After Miller identified Stewart, Long took Miller back to Home Depot and McNaughten remained with Stewart. 3RP 25.

McNaughten asked Stewart why he pulled a knife on Miller. 3RP 27. Stewart denied pulling a knife on Miller and stated he merely had the knife in his possession:

I carry a knife every day, it is my God given right to carry a knife. That man had no right to put his hands on me. If I would have slashed a knife at that man, you wouldn't have been able to talk to him.

3RP 28.

Back at the precinct, an officer took a picture of the knife lying next to a ruler to show the length of the blade. 3RP 99. The officer measured the blade as approximately four inches long. 3RP 102. Police examined the knife for fingerprints but found none of comparison value. 3RP 111, 113. Miller never identified the knife found by the police dog as the knife he claimed Stewart pulled on him.

2. Court of Appeals Decision

(i) Violation of Right to Notice

Stewart was charged with first degree robbery on grounds he displayed what appeared to be a deadly weapon during the commission of the robbery. However, the state proposed and the court gave instructions that directed the jury to convict if it found Stewart was armed with a deadly weapon during the commission of the robbery. Due to this discrepancy, Stewart argued his constitutional right to notice was violated

and required reversal of his conviction and accompanying sentencing enhancement. Brief of Appellant (BOR) at 11-15; Reply Brief of Appellant (RPLY) at 1-4.

In deciding otherwise, the appellate court held that because Stewart was charged with the sentencing enhancement of being armed with a deadly weapon, he was on notice that he should expect to defend against the charges of "displaying" and being "armed" with a deadly weapon. Appendix A at 7.

In his motion for reconsideration, which the court denied, Stewart argued notice of the sentencing enhancement is not sufficient to give notice of an uncharged means of the underlying crime – that is because a sentencing enhancement is not a separate charge unto itself. It only comes into play if the jury finds the underlying offense proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, depending on the circumstances of the case, it could be reasonable defense strategy to work on creating a reasonable doubt as to the underlying element of displaying what appeared to be a deadly weapon. If there is no conviction of the underlying offense, the enhancement is a non-issue. Motion for Reconsideration (MR) at 3.

(ii) Violation of the Right to Require the State to Prove all the Elements of the Enhancement

For purposes of the deadly weapon enhancement, a deadly weapon is an implement or instrument which has the capacity to inflict death and from the manner in which it is used is likely to produce or may easily and readily produce death. Any knife having a blade longer than three inches is a deadly weapon. RCW 9.94A.533(4).

However, the jury here was instructed:

For purposes of a special verdict the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the commission of the crime.

A knife having a blade longer than three inches is a deadly weapon.

CP 40.

In his appeal, Stewart argued the instruction failed to inform jurors they must find the knife had a blade longer than three inches in order to answer "yes" to the special verdict. Rather, it only told jurors that one example of a deadly weapon is a knife that has a blade longer than three inches.

The instruction also failed to define "deadly weapon" for purposes of the special verdict. The only definition of "deadly weapon" the jury was given was the one pertaining to robbery, which requires jurors only to

find that the instrument "is readily capable of causing death or <u>substantial</u> bodily harm." CP 12 (emphasis added); WPIC 2.06.01 (2005).

Thus, as instructed, jurors could have convicted Stewart of the sentencing enhancement without finding the knife had a blade longer than three inches and without finding that the knife was used in a manner likely to produce death. As instructed, the jury could have convicted if it found merely that Stewart possessed a knife that was readily capable of causing substantial bodily harm.

Stewart therefore argued the enhancement must be reversed because the instructions eased the state's burden to prove the knife qualified as a "deadly weapon." BOA at 15-20; RPLY at 5-13.

The appellate court rejected the issue, essentially finding that any error was harmless, reasoning: "If the jury concluded Stewart had a knife at the time of the robbery, it necessarily had to conclude the knife was longer than three inches based on the evidence." Appendix A at 11.

In his motion for reconsideration, Stewart argued the result espoused by the court was not a foregone conclusion. Jurors may have doubted the knife found by police dog Hobbs was in fact the knife used during the robbery. It was not in Stewart's possession at the time of his arrest. Although it was found along the route Stewart allegedly ran during the chase, no fingerprints were recovered from it. Nor did Miller identify

it. Moreover, although Miller testified the knife was "the length of my hand folded, so probably about four and a half, five inches," he did not say whether he was referring to the blade or the knife in its entirety, including the handle.

Despite doubts about Hobbs' knife being the knife, however, jurors may still have believed Stewart did in fact pull a knife on Miller. And assuming jurors believed the real knife was not the one Hobbs found, the error in the instruction is not harmless.

(iii). Violation of Right to Effective Assistance of Counsel

Stewart argued he was denied effective assistance of counsel by his attorney's failure to request a "nexus" instruction for the sentencing enhancement, as there was evidence he was in mere possession of a weapon and not "armed" as defined under the law. BOA at 21-24; RPLY at 13-15. In disagreeing, the appellate court reasoned Stewart was not entitled to the instruction. Appendix A at 14 (footnote omitted).

In his motion for reconsideration, which the court denied, Stewart argued the court failed to look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the proponent of the instruction, as is required. MR at 6.

Stewart testified:

I carry a knife every day, it is my God given right to carry a knife. That man had not right to put his hands on me. If I

would have slashed a knife at that man, you wouldn't have been able to talk to him.

3RP 27-28.

Viewed in the light most favorable to Stewart, his statement supported an inference he merely possessed a knife and did not pull it on Miller. A person is not "armed" merely by virtue of possessing a weapon. Therefore, contrary to the court of appeals decision, it would have been appropriate for the court to instruct the jury – had defense counsel asked – there must be a nexus between the defendant, the weapon, and the crime. Eckenrode, 159 Wn.2d at 494.

E. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT

1. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW BECAUSE THE APPELLATE COURT'S DECISION CONFLICTS WITH COURT'S OPINION IN <u>BROCKIE</u> AND INVOLVES A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF LAW UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

Failing to properly notify a defendant of the nature and cause of the accusation of a criminal charge is a constitutional violation. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; WASH. CONST. art. I, § 22; <u>Hamling v. United States</u>, 418 U.S. 87, 117, 94 S. Ct. 2887, 2907, 41 L.Ed.2d 590 (1974); <u>State v. Kjorsvik</u>, 117 Wn.2d 93, 97, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). Defendants must be informed of the charges against them, including the manner of

committing the crime. State v. Bray, 52 Wn. App. 30, 34, 756P.2d 1332 (1988). Beginning with the Severns case in 1942, this Court has held it is error for a trial court to instruct the jury on uncharged alternative means. See e.g. State v. Severns, 13 Wn.2d 542, 548, 125 P.2d 659 (1942), accord In re Personal Restraint of Brockie, 178 Wn.2d 532, 537, 309 P.3d 498 (2013).

On direct appeal, it is the state's burden to prove the error was harmless. Bray, 52 Wn. App. at 34-35, 756 P.2d 1332. This is based on the rule that "[e]rroneous instructions given on behalf of the party in whose favor the verdict was returned are presumed prejudicial unless it affirmatively appears they were harmless. State v. Rice, 102 Wn.2d 120, 123, 683 P.2d 199 (1984).

By law, there are distinct ways – or means – to commit first degree robbery. <u>Brockie</u>, 178 Wn.2d at 534. A person is guilty of first degree robbery if:

- (a) In the commission of a robbery or of immediate flight therefrom, he or she:
 - (i) Is armed with a deadly weapon; or
- (ii) Displays what appears to be a firearm or other deadly weapon; or
 - (iii) Inflicts bodily injury.

RCW 9A.56.200(1).

Stewart's charging information for robbery indicated that "in the commission of and in immediate flight therefrom, the defendant displayed what appeared to be a deadly weapon, to wit: a knife," which is one of the alternative means of committing first degree robbery. CP 1; Brockie, 178 Wn.2d at 535. However, the jury instructions described a different alternative means for committing robbery: "A person commits the crime of robbery in the first degree when in the commission of a robbery he or she is armed with a deadly weapon." CP 29; see also CP 30 (To convict instruction requiring jury to find: "That in the commission of these acts or in immediate flight therefrom the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon").

This Court's opinion in <u>Brockie</u> is directly on point. <u>Brockie</u> was charged with first degree robbery for displaying what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon. <u>Brockie</u>, 178 Wn.2d at 534 at 535. However, the jury instructions described two alternative means for first degree robbery: "A person commits the crime of robbery in the first degree when in the commission of a robbery he or she *is armed with a deadly weapon or* displays what appears to be a firearm or other deadly weapon." <u>Brockie</u>, at 535 (emphasis in opinion).

In a personal restraint petition, Brockie argued his convictions should be reversed because of the uncharged alternative means included in

the jury instructions. <u>Brockie</u>, at 535. In response, the state argued that the charging document's phrase "the defendant displayed what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon" could mean either displaying or being armed with a firearm, since one has to be armed with a weapon in order to display a weapon. <u>Id.</u>

This Court disagreed:

But the state's argument fails because one may display what appears to be a deadly weapon without being armed with an actual deadly weapon (such as when a person displays a realistic-looking toy gun). See, e.g., State v. Hauch, 33 Wn. App. 75, 77, 651 P.2d 1092 (1982). Similarly, a person may be armed with, but not display, a deadly weapon (such as a gun hidden in a person's pocket). The legislature clearly intended to treat the two alternative means of committing robbery in the first degree as distinct, and the State's reading would improperly collapse the two.

Brockie, 178 Wn.2d at 538. This Court held that Brockie's notice was limited to the means specified in the charging document. <u>Id.</u>

Although it was error to instruct the jury on the uncharged alternative means, the court held Brockie failed to show prejudice, because under the facts of the case, any juror that found the robber was armed with a deadly weapon necessarily would have found that the robber displayed the weapon, the alternative means that was charged. Brockie, 178 Wn.2d at 539-40.

Under this Court's decision in <u>Brockie</u>, Stewart's due process right to notice was violated. There is no authority for the court of appeals reasoning that the enhancement allegation sufficiently apprised him he would have to defend against the uncharged alternate means of the *underlying charge*. As argued in the motion for reconsideration, it would have been reasonable defense strategy – based on the way the case was charged – to create reasonable doubt as to the underlying element of displaying what appeared to be a deadly weapon.

Moreover, in <u>Brockie</u>, the test for harmfulness was whether the accused could have been convicted of the uncharged means. That test is clearly satisfied here, as the jury was only instructed on the uncharged means.

Because the appellate court's decision conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>Brockie</u>, this Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(1). Review is also appropriate because the case involves a significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

2. THE COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS RELIEVED THE STATE OF ITS BURDEN TO PROVE THE ALLEGED KNIFE WAS A DEADLY WEAPON.

Due process requires the State to prove every element of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; <u>In re</u> Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). The same

is true of sentencing enhancements. <u>Blakely v. Washington</u>, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004). Jury instructions that omit essential elements of the crime charged relieve the State of this burden, for they permit the jury to convict without proof of the omitted elements. Therefore, such instructions violate due process. <u>State v. Scott</u>, 110 Wash.2d 682, 690, 757 P.2d 492 (1988).

In order to enhance Stewart's sentence under RCW 9.94A.533(4), the state was required to prove Stewart possessed a deadly weapon, defined as:

[A] deadly weapon is an implement or instrument which has the capacity to inflict death and from the manner in which it is used, is likely to produce or may easily and readily produce death. The following instruments are included in the term deadly weapon: Blackjack, sling shot, billy, sand club, sandbag, metal knuckles, any dirk, dagger, pistol, revolver, or any other firearm, any knife having a blade longer than three inches, any razor with an unguarded blade, any metal pipe or bar used or intended to be used as a club, any explosive, and any weapon containing poisonous or injurious gas.

RCW 9.94A.825. Here, however, the jury was instructed:

For purposes of a special verdict the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the commission of the crime.

A knife having a blade longer than three inches is a deadly weapon.

CP 40.

As indicated, the instruction fails to inform jurors they must find the knife had a blade longer than three inches in order to answer "yes" to the special verdict form. Worse, it contains no definition of "deadly weapon" for purposes of the special verdict. The only definition the jury received is the one pertaining to first degree robbery:

Deadly weapon means any weapon, device, instrument, substance, or article, which under the circumstances in which it is used, attempted to be used, or threatened to be used, is readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily harm.

CP 12; WPIC 2.06.01 (2005) (emphasis added).

Obviously, it is easier to prove something is a deadly weapon under the robbery definition. It does not require jurors to find the instrument has the capacity to inflict death and from the manner in which it is used, is likely to produce or may easily and readily produce death. RCW 9.94A.825. It only requires an instrument capable of causing substantial bodily harm. These instructions therefore eased the state's burden to prove the sentencing enhancement and violated Stewart's due process rights.

Contrary to the court of appeals, the error was not harmless because jurors may have doubted the knife Hobbs found was in fact the knife used during the robbery. As indicated, it was not in Stewart's possession at the time of his arrest. Although it was found along the route he allegedly ran during the chase, no fingerprints were recovered. Nor did Miller identify it as the knife Stewart allegedly pulled on him.

Despite doubts about Hobbs' knife being the knife, however, jurors may still have believed Stewart did in fact pull a knife on Miller. And assuming jurors believed the real knife was not the one Hobbs found, the error in the instruction is not harmless because there is no definitive proof that the knife had a blade longer than three inches. Miller described the knife he saw as four to five inches. However, that could have included the handle.

Moreover, it is not a foregone conclusion jurors would find the manner in which Stewart used the knife was likely to cause death. Miller testified that the blade merely passed near his face, not that Stewart held it to his throat or tried to stab him in a vital organ. See State v. Cook, 69 Wn. App. 412, 848 P.2d 1325 (1993) (erroneous definition of deadly weapon harmless where it was undisputed the defendant held the knife to

the victim's throat). This Court should accept review of this significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

3. STEWART RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Every accused person is guaranteed the right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment and Article I, Section 22 of the Washington State Constitution. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). Defense counsel is ineffective when (1) the attorney's performance is deficient and (2) the deficiency prejudices the accused. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687; Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 225-26. Deficient performance is that which falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 226.

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