RECEIVED VIA PORTAL

#### NO. 93386-3

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

### LORENZO STEWART,

Petitioner.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DONALD J. PORTER Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

#

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

#### D. ARGUMENT

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS HOLDING THAT UNDER THE FACTS OF THE CASE STEWART HAD ADEQUATE NOTICE THAT HE MUST DEFEND AGAINST A CHARGE OF FIRST DEGREE ROBBERY WHILE ARMED WITH A DEADLY WEAPON DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH BROCKIE.

Stewart argues that his conviction for robbery in the first degree must be reversed because the jury was instructed on an uncharged

alternative means of committing the crime. He claims that the court of appeals rejection of his claim is in conflict with this Court's decision in <a href="State v. Brockie">State v. Brockie</a>, 178 Wn.2d 532, 309 P.3d 498 (2013). Stewart is wrong. The error in <a href="Brockie">Brockie</a>, that the defendant was not provided notice that he was armed with a deadly weapon, did not occur in this case; Stewart had notice that he was accused of being armed with a knife.

The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of our state constitution require that charging documents include all essential statutory and nonstatutory elements of a crime. State v. Goodman, 150 Wn.2d 774, 784, 83 P.3d 410 (2004). The purpose of the requirement is to give notice to the accused of the nature of the crime in order to prepare a defense. State v. Tandecki, 153 Wn.2d 842, 846-47, 109 P.3d 398 (2005). It is not necessary to use the exact words of the statute if other words are used which equivalently or more extensively signify the words in the statute. State v. Leach, 113 Wn.2d 679, 686, 782 P.2d 552 (1989) (citing State v. Knowlton, 11 Wn. 512, 39 P. 966 (1895)).

In <u>Brockie</u>, the defendant was charged with robbery in the first degree by an information that alleged that he "displayed" what appeared to be a deadly weapon, but did not allege that he was "armed with" a deadly weapon. <u>Brockie</u>, at 535. However, the jury instructions allowed

conviction on either alternative means for first degree robbery: "A person commits the crime of robbery in the first degree when in the commission of a robbery he or she *is armed with a deadly weapon or* displays what appears to be a firearm or other deadly weapon." <u>Brockie</u>, at 535 (emphasis in original).

In a personal restraint petition, Brockie alleged that it was reversible error to instruct on the uncharged alternative means. This Court found instructional error, but did not reverse Brockie's convictions because he had failed to prove actual and substantial prejudice. Brockie, at 540. Fundamental to this Court's holding was that Brockie never received notice that he would have to defend against an allegation that he had been "armed."

By specifying the means of displaying what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon, the charging information limited **Brockie's** notice to that particular means. Nothing in the charging information put **Brockie** on notice that he might be charged with the alternative means of first degree robbery while armed with a deadly weapon.

Brockie, at 538.

The amended information here provided as follows:

That the defendant Lorenzo Stewart in King County, Washington, on or about August 27, 2014, did unlawfully and with intent to commit theft take personal property of another, to wit: U.S. currency (store credit), from the person and in the presence of Joshua Paul Miller, against his will, by the use or threatened use of immediate

force, violence and fear of injury to such person or his property and to the person or property of another, and in the commission of and in immediate flight therefrom, the defendant displayed what appeared to be a deadly weapon, to-wit: a knife; ...

And further do accuse the defendant, Lorenzo Stewart at said time of being armed with a deadly weapon, to-wit: a knife.

Supp. CP \_\_\_\_\_, Sub #70 (statutory citations omitted, emphasis added).

Here, the charging document alleged that Stewart was both armed with a knife and displayed a knife. Stewart was plainly on notice that the State was alleging that he was "armed."

The court of appeals held that, under the circumstances of this case, Stewart was not prejudiced:

[A] charging document need not use the exact words of the statute if it uses words conveying the same meaning that give reasonable notice to the defendant of the charge. In re Pers. Restraint of Benavidez, 160 Wn. App. 165, 170, 246 P.3d 842 (2011). Here, the sentencing enhancement allegation for the robbery charge accused Stewart "of being armed with a deadly weapon" at the time he committed the robbery. Read together, the robbery charge and related sentencing enhancement allegation gave Stewart notice that he should expect to defend against the charges of "displaying" and being "armed" with a deadly weapon. Thus, the discrepancy between the charging information and the to convict instruction did not prejudice him. It was not reversible error.

Slip. Opinion at 7 (emphasis in original).

Here, the State concedes that Stewart was found guilty based on the only means on which the jury was instructed, that Stewart was armed with a deadly weapon, a knife. However, under the specific facts of this case, wherein the language of one of the alternative means of committing robbery in the first degree, that the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon, mirrors the language of the charged deadly weapon sentence enhancement, <u>Brockie</u> does not apply. Because Stewart had notice that he had to defend against a charge that he was armed with a deadly weapon, any error was harmless.

For these reasons, the court of appeals decision was correct and Brockie is not controlling, so there is no conflict necessitating review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING THAT THE TRIAL COURT GAVE THE CORRECT SPECIAL VERDICT DEADLY WEAPON INSTRUCTION WHEN THE ONLY WEAPON AT ISSUE WAS A DEADLY WEAPON AS A MATTER OF LAW.

Stewart claims that the court of appeals erred by upholding his 24-month deadly weapon sentence enhancement. He claims the weapon enhancement should be vacated because the trial court failed to properly instruct the jury on the definition of a deadly weapon for the purposes of the special verdict. Stewart's argument should be rejected for two reasons. First, at trial Stewart did not object to the instruction he now complains of, and, therefore, pursuant to RAP 2.5, his claim should not be

addressed on appeal. Second, as the court of appeals correctly held, there was no error in the instruction defining deadly weapon for purposes of the special verdict. The trial court gave the modified version of WPIC 2.07.01 that is recommended when the weapon is a knife with a blade over three inches in length, a per se deadly weapon.

Appellate courts generally will not consider an issue that is raised for the first time on appeal. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). In order to have a claim reviewed for the first time on appeal a defendant must demonstrate that the error is (1) manifest, and (2) of constitutional dimension. State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009); RAP 2.5. The purpose behind this rule is to encourage the efficient use of judicial resources by ensuring that the trial court has the opportunity to correct any errors, thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals. Stewart does not even acknowledge that he failed to object to the instruction at trial, and he makes no attempt to meet his burden to show that the alleged error was constitutional and manifest. Under such circumstances, a reviewing court should refuse even to address the matter. See State v. Lindsey, 177 Wn. App. 233, 247, 311 P.3d 61 (2013).

This Court has denied appellate review in circumstances virtually identical to the case at bar. In <u>State v. Eckenrode</u>, 159 Wn.2d 488, 150 P.3d 1116 (2006), the defendant was convicted of drug charges with

special verdicts for having been armed with a firearm at the time of the commission of the offenses. For the first time on appeal, Eckenrode alleged that the jury instruction defining deadly weapon for the special verdict did not include nexus language. This Court held:

But we have not vacated sentencing enhancements merely because a jury was not instructed that there had to be such a nexus. There is another principle that bears on our review: whether any alleged instructional error could have been cured at trial. We have found that the defendant's failure to ask for the nexus instruction generally bars relief on review on the ground of instructional error. See, e.g., State v. Willis, 153 Wn.2d 366, 374, 103 P.3d 1213 (2005).

Eckenrode, 159 Wn.2d at 491. The Eckenrode court then limited its review to the sufficiency of the evidence. Stewart's claim was similarly not preserved. The court of appeals should never have addressed his claim for the first time on appeal.

In any event, the court of appeals holding on the merits of Stewart's argument was correct. The instruction given was the standard WPIC 2.07.01, with the bracketed material of the instruction used appropriately considering the evidence presented at trial. The only knife admitted into evidence, or even mentioned in the case, had a four-inch blade, a per se deadly weapon.

The statutory definition of a deadly weapon for purposes of a special verdict provides:

For purposes of this section, a deadly weapon is an implement or instrument which has the capacity to inflict death and from the manner in which it is used, is likely to produce or may easily and readily produce death. The following instruments are included in the term deadly weapon: . . . any knife having a blade longer than three inches . . . .

RCW 9.94A.825.

The full text of WPIC 2.07.01 states:

For purposes of a special verdict the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the commission of the crime [in Count].

[A person is armed with a deadly weapon if, at the time of the commission of the crime, the weapon is easily accessible and readily available for offensive or defensive use. The State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that there was a connection between the weapon and the defendant [or an accomplice]. The State must also prove beyond a reasonable doubt that there was a connection between the weapon and the crime. In determining whether these connections existed, you should consider, among other factors, the nature of the crime and the circumstances surrounding the commission of the crime, including the [location of the weapon at the time of the crime][the type of weapon] [(fill in other relevant circumstances)].]

[If one participant in a crime is armed with a deadly weapon, all accomplices to that participant are deemed to be so armed, even if only one deadly weapon is involved.]

[A knife having a blade longer than three inches is a deadly weapon.][A deadly weapon is an implement or instrument that has the capacity to inflict death and, from the manner in which it is used, is likely to produce or may easily produce death. Whether a knife having a blade less than three inches long is a deadly weapon is a question of fact that is for you to decide.]

The notes on use of the instruction direct: "Do not use the second paragraph in a case in which the weapon was actually used and displayed during the commission of the crime." Further, the comment to WPIC 2.07.01 instructs that when the weapon in question is one listed among the statutorily defined deadly weapons in RCW 9.95.040 (as is a knife with a blade longer than three inches), "the prefatory 'likely to produce death' language found in WPIC 2.07 should be omitted and that the jury should be instructed the implement is a deadly weapon as a matter of law." These instructions on use are consistent with <u>State v. Rahier</u>, 37 Wn. App. 571, 576, 681 P.2d 1299 (1984).

Here, consistent with the accepted usage of WPIC 2.07.01, and Rahier, the jury was instructed as follows:

For purposes of a special verdict the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the commission of the crime.

A knife having a blade longer than three inches is a deadly weapon.

CP 40.

Stewart argues that based on this instruction jurors could have convicted him of the sentencing enhancement without finding the knife had a blade longer than three inches and without finding that the knife was used in a manner likely to produce death. Stewart's argument that the jury

instruction should have included "manner of use" language depends on utter speculation, not on the evidence in this case.

Here, because the only weapon the jury heard about during the trial was a knife with a four-inch blade, and as a matter of law a knife with a blade longer than three inches is a deadly weapon for purposes of the special verdict, there was no reason to instruct the jury on the generic special verdict definition that "a deadly weapon is an implement or instrument which has the capacity to inflict death and from the manner in which it is used, is likely to produce or may easily and readily produce death." It is clear that the State alleged that the weapon used was the switchblade knife with a four-inch blade that was admitted into evidence. The switchblade knife admitted into evidence was consistent in size and type with the knife the victim Miller heard make the "flick" noise. The recovered knife had a distinctive silver clip, consistent with Officer Strum's observation of the knife clipped to Stewart's pocket only minutes before his arrest. The knife was found along the path that Stewart had run minutes before. The police dog indicated that the knife was associated with the scent he had been given.

Under the evidence in this case, the court of appeals properly rejected Stewart's argument and upheld the instruction:

[T]he overwhelming evidence established that Stewart brandished a four-inch knife at Miller. If the jury concluded Stewart had a knife at the time of the robbery, it necessarily had to conclude the knife was longer than three inches based on the trial evidence.

Any knife with a blade longer than three inches is a deadly weapon as a matter of law. When the State alleges that the defendant used a per se deadly weapon, "[t]he jury should be instructed the implement is a deadly weapon as a matter of law." The instruction does not, as Stewart contends, merely provide an example of a deadly weapon. We conclude the trial court did not err by instructing the jury that the knife was a per se deadly weapon.

Slip op. at 11.

The defense presented no testimony or evidence in this case. It was not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to give the modified version of WPIC 2.07.01 that is recommended when the weapon is a knife with a blade over three inches in length, a per se deadly weapon.

3. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY REJECTED STEWART'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must establish both deficient performance and resulting prejudice. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). To show deficient performance, he must show that his counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 705, 940 P.2d 1239

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The court of appeals quoted State v. Rahier, 37 Wn. App. at 576.

(1997). In judging the performance of trial counsel, courts "indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." <u>Id.</u> at 689.

To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim for failure to propose a jury instruction, Stewart must establish that (1) the trial court likely would have given the proposed instruction had it been requested, and (2) defense counsel's failure to request the instruction was not a legitimate tactical decision. State v. Powell, 150 Wn. App. 139, 154-55, 206 P.3d 703 (2009). Here, Stewart cannot prove the trial court would have given an instruction defining "armed" for the purpose of the special verdict. A defendant is only entitled to a jury instruction supporting his theory of the case if there is substantial evidence in the record supporting his theory. Powell, 150 Wn. App. at 154 (citing State v. Washington, 36 Wn. App. 792, 793, 677 P.2d 786 (1984)).

This Court has held that a person is "armed" as a matter of law if "a weapon is easily accessible and readily available for use, either for offensive or defensive purposes," and a nexus exists between the defendant, the weapon, and the crime. State v. Valdobinos, 122 Wn.2d 270, 282, 858 P.2d 199 (1993). However, jury instructions need not contain "nexus" language. State v. Barnes, 153 Wn.2d 378, 383, 103 P.3d 1219 (2005).

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